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BAJAJ FINSERV DIRECT LIMITED
10" DIRECTORS' REPORT 2023-24

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Dear Shareholders,

Your directors present the Tenth Annual Report along with the audited financial statements for
FY2024.

Company Overview and Operations

Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited (‘BFSD’ or ‘BFS-Direct’) has 2 synergistic divisions viz., Bajaj Markets
and Bajaj Technology Services. Bajaj Market is a financial services marketplace that offers
multiple financial services products across categories including - Loans, Credit Cards,
Insurances & Investments. It has over 80 onboarded partners with over 20 crore annual visitors
on its digital properties. Bajaj Technology Services works in digital and enterprise space offering
niche technologies like Adobe, SalesForce, Multi-cloud, Gen Al and Data analytics to BFSI
companies across India and Middle East. During the year, the Company opened an office at Dubai
International Financial Centre to expand its technology business in the Middle East.

BFS-Direct is registered with Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India as a
composite Corporate Agent (CA0551) for distribution of insurance (life and general) products in
India. The Company is also registered with SEBI through its Investment Advisory Department as
an Investment Advisor (INAOO0O016083) through which it offers various financial products and
services to its customers. These are channelized through its partners listed on its digital

plattform.
Financial Summary

The highlights of the financial results of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 are

given below:
(Rs. in crore)

Total oo T o — arsia]  souis

Less: Expenditure excluding depreciation 491.04 389.22
Less: Depreciation 56.73 53.89
Profit / (Loss) before Tax (72.63) (51.97)

Less: Provision for Tax - Current -

Less: Deferred tax

Profit / (Loss) After Tax (72.63) (51.97)
Add: Other comprehensive income = =
Add: Actuarial gain/(losses) (0.12) (0.37)
Less: Tax on above - =
Other comprehensive income for the year (0.12) (0.37)
(net of tax)

Total comprehensive income / (Loss) for the year (72.75) (52.34)

Dividend and transfer to reserves

Considering the operating and accumulated losses, no dividend is being recommended, nor any
amount is proposed for transfer to reserves.
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Share Capital
During the year under review, there was no change in share capital of the Company.

As on 31March 2024, the authorised share capital of the Company was Rs. 3.50 crore comprising
of 35,00,000 equity shares of face value of Rs. 10/-. The issued, subscribed and paid-up equity
share capital stood at Rs. 3.12 crore, represented by 31,20,000 equity shares of face value
Rs.10/-. As on 31 March 2024, Bajaj Finserv Limited and Bajaj Finance Limited hold 80.13% and
19.87% of the paid-up share capital respectively.

During the year under review, the Company has not issued any equity shares, convertible
securities, shares with differential voting rights, sweat equity shares nor has it granted any stock
options. As on 31 March 2024, the Company has an outstanding convertible loan amounting to
Rs. 803.41 crore.

Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

The Company does not have any subsidiary, associate or a joint venture company. Accordingly.
the requirement of attaching form AOC-1is not applicable to the Company.

State of Affairs

The Company witnessed 22% increase in revenue from operations on the back of 24% rise in
income from distribution business and 16% rise in technology services business. It remains well
funded for its future plans.

Directors and Key Managerial Personnel

hange in Directorate:
The shareholders, at the annual general meeting held on 26 July 2023:

1. Appointed Anish Amin (DIN: 00070679) as non-executive director, liable to retire by
rotation, effective 1 December 2022:;

2. Appointed Ashish Panchal (DIN: 10106286) as a Whole- Time Director, liable to retire by
rotation, for a period of three years, effective 1 May 2023 up to 30 April 2026;

3. Appointed Jasmine Chaney (DIN: 07082359) as an Independent Director, not liable to
retire by rotation, for a period of five consecutive years, effective from 1 May 2023 to
30 April 2028. In the opinion of the Board, she is a person of integrity and possesses
relevant expertise and experience.

The Board comprises of persons with diverse experience and skills, such that it best serves the
governance and strategic needs of the Company and its stakeholders. The present composition
broadly meets this objective.

A brief profile of directors is available on the website at www bajajfinservmarkets.in/aboutus.

Anish Amin (DIN: 00070679). being the director liable to retire by rotation, offers himself for re-
appointment at the ensuing annual general meeting (AGM). The information as required to be

disclosed in case of re-appointment of the director is provided in the Notice of the ensuing AGM.
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Key Managerial Personnel (KMP);

The Board, at its meeting held on 25 April 2023, designated Ashish Panchal and Namrata Surana
(ACS: 52469) as the whole-time key managerial personnel of the Company w.e.f. 1 May 2023.

Declaration by Independent Directors

The Independent Directors have submitted a declaration of independence, stating that they
meet the criteria of independence provided under section 149(6) of the Act. They have
also confirmed compliance with the provisions of rule 6 of Companies (Appointment and
Qualifications of Directors) Rules, 2014, as amended, relating to inclusion of their name in the

databank of independent directors.
Annual Return

A copy of the Annual Return as provided under section 92(3) read with section 134(3)(a) of the
Act in the prescribed Form MGT-7 is available on the Company's website and can be accessed
at www.bajaifin r in l-and-compli MGT-

Number of meetings of the Board
During the FY2024, the Board of Directors met four times, viz., 25 April 2023, 25 July 2023,
25 October 2023 and 24 January 2024. The time gap between any two consecutive meetings

has been less than one hundred and twenty days.

As on 31 March 2024, the composition of the Board was as under:

Sr. No. | Name of Director Category
1 Anish Amin* Non - Executive Director, Chairman
2 Mayur Chokshi Non - Executive, Independent Director
3 Mayur Patwardhan Non - Executive, Independent Director
4 Jasmine Chaney Non - Executive, Independent Director
5 Ashish Panchal Whole - Time Director and CEO
6 Sujith Sukumaran Whole - Time Director

*Anish Amin was appointed as the Chairman of Board effective 25 April 2023.
Directors’ responsibility statement

In accordance with the provisions of section 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, the directors, to
the best of their knowledge and belief, state that:

(i) in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable Accounting Standards have
been followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures:;

(ii) they have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent, so as to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of
the loss of the Company for FY2024;

(i)  they have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and
other irregularities;
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(iv)  the annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis;

(v) they have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and that, to the best of their knowledge, such systems were adequate
and were operating effectively.

Audit Committee

In terms of section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has constituted Audit
Committee. During the year under review, the Committee met four times, viz., 25 April 2023,
25 July 2023, 25 October 2023 and 24 January 2024,

As on 31 March 2024, the composition of the Committee was as under:

Sr. No. | Name of Director Category
1 Mayur Patwardhan Chairman, Non - Executive, Independent Director
2 Mayur Chokshi Non - Executive, Independent Director
3 Anish Amin* Non - Executive Director |

*Anish Amin was appointed as a member w.e.f. 7 April 2023

All members of the Committee are Chartered Accountants having worked with reputed firms
and have vast experience in assurance and auditing practices.

The terms of reference of the Committee, inter alia, cover recommendation for appointment,
remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors of the company, reviewing and monitoring
the auditor’'s independence, performance and effectiveness of audit process, examination of the
financial statements and auditors report thereon, approval and subsequent modification of
transactions with related parties, scrutiny of inter corporate loans and investment, evaluation
of internal financial controls and risk management systems, monitoring end use of funds raised
through public offers and any other function as may be prescribed by the Board from time to
time.

The Board accepted all recommendations, made during the year, by the Audit Committee.
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

In terms of section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Company has constituted Nomination
and Remuneration Committee. During the year under review, the Committee met once on

25 April 2023.

As on 31 March 2024, the composition of the Committee was as under:

Sr. No. | Name of Director Category

1. Mayur Chokshi* Chairman, Non - Executive, Independent Director
2. Mayur Patwardhan Non - Executive, Independent Director

3 Anish Amin** Non - Executive Director

*Mayur Chokshi was appointed as Chairman w.e.f. 26 April 2023
**Anish Amin stepped down as Chairman w.e.f. 25 April 2023

The terms of reference of the Committee, inter alia, cover identification of persons who are

qualified to become directors and who may be appointed in senior management in accordance
with the criteria laid down, recommendation to the Board regarding their appointment and
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removal, formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and
independence of a director and recommend to the Board policy relating to the remuneration for
the directors, key managerial personnel and other employees, specification of the manner for
effective evaluation of the performance of Board, its committees and individual directors to be
carried out either by the Board, by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee or by an
independent external agency and review its implementation and compliance, and any other
function as may be prescribed by the Board from time to time.

Policy on Directors” appointment and remuneration

On recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC), the Board has
framed a remuneration policy. This policy. inter-alia, provides:

(a) The criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and independence of

directors; and
(b) Policy on remuneration of directors, key managerial personnel and other employees.

The policy is directed towards a compensation philosophy and structure that will reward and
retain talent; and provides for a balance between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and
long-term performance objectives appropriate to the working of the Company and its goals.

The remuneration policy is available on the Company’'s website and can be accessed at
www.bajajfinservmarkets.in/content/dam/bajajfinserv/notices/RemunerationPolicy.pdf

The Independent Directors are paid a sitting fee of Rs. 5,000/- for Board and Committee
meetings attended by them.

Particulars of Loans, Guarantees and Investments

The Company has not granted any loans or provided any guarantees or securities under
section 186 of the Act.

Details of investments made are a part of notes to financial statements which form part of the
Annual Report.

Employee Stock Option Scheme

Consequent to approval received from the shareholders of Bajaj Finserv Limited. holding
company of the Company at 11" AGM held on 19 July 2018 and approval received from the
shareholders of the Company at its 4" AGM held on 16 July 2018, the Company approved the
Bajaj Finserv Limited Employee Stock Option Scheme (BFS-ES0S). The Company is a corporate
trustee for the Bajaj Finserv ESOP Trust, formed for managing the stock options granted under
BFS ESOS.

Related party transactions
All contracts/arrangement/transactions entered by the Company with related parties during
the year under review were in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Act including on

arm’s length basis and in the ordinary course of business of the Company under the Act. None
of the transactions required members’ prior approval under the Act.
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Details of transactions with related parties during FY2024 are provided in the notes to the
financial statements. There were no transaction requiring disclosure under section 134(3)(h) of
the Act. Hence, the prescribed Form AOC-2 does not form a part of this report.

Material Changes and Commitments

There were no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the
Company which have occurred between the end of financial year and the date of this Report.

Particulars regarding Conservation of Energy. Technology Absorption and Foreign Exchange
Earnings and Outgo

The information pertaining to the conservation of energy and technology absorption in terms of
section 134(3)(m) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014
is stated as below:

(a) Conservation of Energy and Technology Absorption
The operations of the Company are not energy-intensive in nature.
Considering the nature of operations. no particulars regarding technology absorption are
required to be given in this Report.

(b) Foreign Exchange earnings and outgo during the year

The total foreign exchange earnings in FY2024 in terms of actual inflows was NIL
(FY2023: NIL).

The total foreign exchange outgo in FY2024 in terms of actual outflows amounted to
Rs. 4.04 crore as against Rs 3.29 crore during the previous year.

Risk Management

The Company has put in place an adequate and effective risk reporting system. In the opinion of
the Board, there are no residual risks, which would threaten the existence of the Com pany.

Significant and material orders passed by the regulators or courts

During the year under review, there were no significant or material orders passed by any
regulator or court or tribunal, impacting the going concern status and Company’s operations in
future.

Adequacy of Internal Financial Controls

The Company has in place adequate internal financial controls commensurate with its size, scale
and complexity of operations with reference to its financial statements. These have been
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding recording and providing reliable financial
information, ensuring integrity in conducting business, accuracy and completeness in
maintaining accounting records and prevention and detection of frauds and errors. The Audit
Committee and Board reviewed the said controls and found them in order.
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Independent directors’ meeting

Pursuant to the Act, the independent directors must hold at least one meeting in a year without
the presence of non-independent directors and members of the Management. Accordingly,
independent directors of the Company met on 24 January 2024. All the independent directors
were present at the meeting.

The independent directors, inter alia:

reviewed the performance of non-independent directors and the Board as a whole;
reviewed the performance of the Chairman of the Company for the year 2023-24 taking
into account the views of the executive directors; and

assessed the quality, quantity and timeliness of flow of information between the
Company’s Management and the Board that is necessary for the Board to effectively and
reasonably perform their duties.

Formal annual evaluation

Pursuant to section 178 of the Act, the NRC and Board have decided that the evaluation shall be
carried out by the Board only and the NRC will only review its implementation and compliance.
Further, as per Schedule IV of the Act, the performance evaluation of independent directors shall
be done by the entire Board excluding the director being evaluated.

On the basis of the report of the performance evaluation, it shall be determined whether to
extend or continue the term of appointment of independent director.

Accordingly, the Board has carried out an annual performance evaluation of its own
performance, that of its Committees and Individual directors.

The manner in which formal annual evaluation of performance was carried out by the Board for
the year 2023-24 is given below:

» Based on the criteria for performance evaluation, a questionnaire-cum-rating sheet was
deployed using an IT platform for seeking confidential feedback of the directors with
regard to the performance of the Board, its Committees, Independent directors and
Individual directors.

e From the individual ratings received from the directors, a report on summary of ratings in
respect of performance evaluation for the year 2023-24 and a consolidated report thereof
were arrived at. The aforesaid report was then discussed and noted by the Board at its
meeting held on 23 April 2024,

e The NRC reviewed the implementation and compliance of the performance evaluation at
its meeting held on 23 April 2024 and opined these to be compliant with applicable
provisions and found it to be satisfactory.

e Based on the aforementioned report and evaluation, the Board determined that the term
of appointment of all independent directors may continue.

e Other than Chairman of the Board and Chairman of NRC, no other director had access to
the individual ratings given by directors.
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Whistle blower policy

The Whistle Blower Policy is created with an objective to provide a safe and secured framework
wherein the employee can report those actions, occurrences, events, observations or any
concerns about unethical behaviour, any actual or suspected fraud, violations of legal or
regulatory requirements or Code of Conduct Policy of Company, misrepresentations or any
physiologically adverse work conditions etc. without fear of victimization.

The concerns may be reported through email at bfdiwhistleblower@bajajfinserv.in and shall be
kept confidential. Pursuant to the Whistle Blower Policy, the complaints, if any, are brought to
their attention of Disciplinary Action Committee. The Committee deals with the same in
accordance with the Policy. All the complaints brought to their attention and the actions taken
and progress status of each complaint is placed quarterly to the Audit Committee and Board.

Secretarial Standards of ICS|

The Company has complied with the requirements prescribed under the Secretarial Standards
on meetings of the Board of Directors (SS-1) and General Meetings (SS-2) read with the
MCA circulars.

Internal Audit

Internal audit is an integral part of corporate governance. The objective of internal audit is to
identify, assess and mitigate risks as well as to evaluate and contribute to the systems of internal
controls and governance processes followed by the Company. Key elements of internal audit are
assurance on controls, governance and compliance, business risk assessment and its mitigation
and process optimization.

The Audit Committee periodically reviews the internal audit reports and the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls. Significant audit observations, corrective and preventive
actions thereon are presented to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

During FY2024, Vipin Bansal, owing to his movement to a leadership position in another
Company within the Group, resigned as the internal auditor of the Company. Consequently,

Jayesh Kulkarni, Head of Corporate Audit Services - Bajaj Finance Limited, was appointed as
Internal Auditor of the Company w.e.f. 25 October 2023.

Auditors

Statutory Auditors

Shareholders at the AGM held on 25 July 2022, appointed KKC & Associates LLP,
Chartered Accountants, as Statutory Auditor for a term of four years i.e. from the conclusion of

8" AGM till the conclusion of 121" AGM.

The statutory audit report for the FY2024, does not contain any qualification, reservation or
adverse remark or disclaimer.
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Secretarial Auditor

Pursuant to the provisions of section 204 of the Act, and the Companies (Appointment and
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, the Board appointed Sachin Bhagwat,
Practicing Company Secretary (ACS No. A10189, CP No0.6029), to undertake secretarial audit of
the Company for FY2024.

The secretarial audit report for the FY2024, does not contain any qualification, reservation or
adverse remark or disclaimer. The same is annexed to this Report.

Dematerialisation of Shares

In terms of Rule 9A of Companies (Prospectus of Securities) Rules, 2014, the Company has
entered into tripartite agreement with National Securities Depository Ltd (NSDL) and
KFin Technologies Ltd. for admission of its equity shares with NSDL. All equity shares of the
Company are in dematerialised mode. The Company has complied with other conditions
prescribed in the said rule.

As such transfer or any issue of shares of the company will be in dematerialised mode only.
Other Statutory Disclosures

e In this report, any reference to the statutory or regulatory guidelines, acts, circulars,
regulations, notifications and directions, unless the context otherwise requires, be
construed to include any amendments, modifications, updations or re-enactment
thereof as the case may be.

e There was no change in the nature of the business of the Company.

e The financial statements of the Company are placed on the Company’s website in the
Annual Report section at www.bajajfinservmarkets.in/aboutus

e During FY2024, your Company has not accepted any deposits within the meaning of
sections 73 and 74 of the Act read together with the Companies (Acceptance of Deposits)
Rules, 2014 as amended.

e The provisions of section 135 of the Act relating to Corporate Social Responsibility are
not applicable to the Company.

e The Company being an unlisted company, details as required to be reported under
section 197(12) of the Act, are not applicable to the Company.

e During the year under review, the whole-time directors were not in receipt of any
remuneration or commission from Bajaj Finserv Limited, the holding company. Hence, the
disclosure as required under section 197(14) of the Act is not applicable.

e Disclosure pertaining to maintenance of cost records as required under sub-section (1)
of section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013, is not applicable to your Company.

e Neither any application was made, nor any proceeding is pending under the Insolvency
and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 during FY2024 against the Company.

¢ During the year under review, there were no frauds reported by the Secretarial Auditor or
Statutory Auditors to the Audit Committee or the Board under section 143(12) of the Act.
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e Pursuant to the ‘'The Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition
and Redressal) Act, 2013’, the Company has a policy on Prevention of Sexual Harassment
at Workplace and has constituted an Internal Complaints Committee. The disclosure as
required under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition
and Redressal) Act, 2013, is given below:

Particulars Number of cases

Number of complaints filed during FY2024 4
Number of complaints disposed off / closed during FY2024 4
Number of complaints pending at the end of FY2024 0

e During FY2024, there was no instance of one-time settlement with Banks or Financial
Institutions. Therefore, as per rule 8(5)(xii) of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, reasons
of difference in the valuation at the time of one-time settlement and valuation done while
taking loan from the Banks or Financial Institutions are not reported.

Acknowledgement

The Board places its gratitude and appreciation for the support and co-operation from its
members, regulators and business partners. The Board also places on record its sincere
appreciation for the commitment and hard work put in by the Management and the Employees.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of
Bajaj Finserv Direct Ltd.

Anish Amin
Chairman

23 April 2024
Pune
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SACHIN BHAGWAT

Practicing Company Secretary

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

For the financial year ended 31 March, 2024

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 9 of the
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules,
2014]

To,
The Members,
Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Bajaj Auto Limited Complex,
Mumbai-Pune Road,

Akurdi,

Pune 411035

I have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance of applicable statutory
provisions and the adherence to good corporate practices by Bajaj Finserv Direct
Limited (CIN: U65923PN2014PLC150522) (hereinafter called “the Company™).
Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided me a reasonable basis
for evaluating the corporate conduct/statutory compliances and expressing my
opinion thereon.

Auditor’s Responsibility:

My responsibility is to express an opinion on the compliance of the applicable
laws and maintenance of records based on audit. I have conducted the audit in
accordance with the applicable Auditing Standards issued by The Institute of
Company Secretaries of India. The Auditing Standards requires that the Auditor
shall comply with statutory and regulatory requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about compliance with appligable laws and
maintenance of records.

Due to the inherent limitations of audit including internal, financial and operating
controls, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements or material
non-compliances may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned
and performed in accordance with the Standards.

Unmodified opinion:

Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms
and returns filed and other records maintained by the Company and also the

3, Laxminarayan Apartments, 1098/19, Model Colony, Shivaji Nagar, Pune 411016
sbhagwatcs@yahoo.co.in | + 91 9970163862



information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorised
representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, I hereby report that in my
opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the financial year
ended on 31 March, 2024 complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder
and also that the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made
hereinafter.

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and
other records maintained by the Company for the financial year ended on 31
March, 2024, according to the provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder:;

(ii)  The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA”) and the rules
made thereunder; (Not applicable to the Company)

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed
thereunder;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the Rules and
Regulations made thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment,
Overseas Direct Investment and external commercial borrowings did not
apply to the Company during the audit period;

(v)  The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the
Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’) :-

(a)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, .2011; (Not
applicable to the Company during the audit period)

(b)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of
Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015; (Not applicable to the
Company during the audit period)

(c)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2018; (Not applicable to
the Company during the Audit period)

(d)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based
Employee Benefits and Sweat Equity) Regulations, 2021; (Not



(e)

¢y

(g)

(h)

I further report that having regard to the compliance system prevailing in the
Company and on examination of the relevant documents and records in pursuance
thereof, the Company has generally complied with the following law applicable

applicable to the Company)
The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of
Non-convertible Securities) Regulations, 2021; (Not applicable to

the Company during the audit period)

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an
Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the
Companies Act and dealing with client; (Not applicable to the
Company)

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity
Shares) Regulations, 2021; (Not applicable to the Company),; and
The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of

Securities) Regulations, 2018; (Not applicable to the Company)

specifically to the Company:

1. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Registration of
Corporate Agents) Rules, 2015;

a. Securities and Exchange Board of India (Investment Advisers) Regulations,
2013; and

3. Securities and Exchange Board of India (Intermediaries) Regulations, 2008.

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:

(i)

(i1)

Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company
Secretaries of India have been generally followed.

The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015; (Not
applicable to the Company)

During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions
of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above.
However, Forms DIR 12, Form MGT 14 and MR 1 — pertaining to the
Appointment of Mr. Ashish Panchal, as an additional director and Whole-time
Director were filed belatedly with the Registrar of Companies.



I further report that -

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance
of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors.
The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place
during the period under review were carried out in compliance with the
provisions of the Act.

Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings,
agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in advance.
A system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications
on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the
meeting.

All decisions at Board Meetings were carried out unanimously as recorded in
the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors.

I further report that there are adequate systems and processes in the Company
commensurate with the size and operations of the Company to monitor and
ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

I further report that during the audit period the following events / actions took
place having a major bearing on the Company’s affairs in pursuance of the
above referred laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, standards etc. referred to
above:

The Company altered the objects clause of its Memorandum of Asgociation by
including therein, provision of services such as merchandising, catalogue,
search engine optimization, regulatory filing services/option, e-commerce,
software and hardware solutions etc.

N

CS Sapifl/ﬁ

ACS: 10189, CP: 6029
UDIN: A010189F000217462
PR No.: 654/2020

Pune, 23 April, 2024



To,

Annexure

The Members,
Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Bajaj Auto Limited Complex,
Mumbai-Pune Road,

Akurdi,

Pune 411035

My report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

k:

Pune, 23 April, 2024

Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of
the Company. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial
records based on my audit.

I have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to
obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness of the contents of the
Secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that
correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. I believe that the processes
and practices, I followed provide a reasonable basis for my opinion.

. I have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records

and Books of Accounts of the company.

Where ever required, I have obtained the Management representation about
the compliance of laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc.

. The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws,

rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility of management. My
examination was limited to the verification of procedures on test basis.

The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability
of the company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the
management has conducted the affairs of the company.
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kkc & associates llp

Chartered Accountants
(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP)

Independent Auditor’s Report

To

The Members of
Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

1,

We have audited the accompanying Financial Statements of Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited (‘the
Company’), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2024, and the Statement of Profit and
Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), Statement of Changesin Equity and Statement of Cash
Flows for the year ended on that date, and notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information (‘the Financial
Statements’).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the
aforesaid Financial Statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) in the
manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards
prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,
2015, as amended, (‘Ind AS’) and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the State
of Affairs of the Company as at 31 March 2024, and its Loss and Other Comprehensive income, Changes
in Equity and its Cash Flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

3.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (‘SAs’) specified under section
143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the Financial Statements under the provisions of the Act, and the rules thereunder, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of
Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion on the Financial Statements.

Other Information

4.

The Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report but does not include the
Financial Statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The Other Information is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Ouropinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other
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information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements, or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. if, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate action
as applicable under the relevant laws and regulations.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

7. The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act,
with respect to the preparation of these Financial Statements that give a true and fair view of the State
of Affairs, Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Changes in Equity and Cash Flows of the Company
in accordance with the Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Act read with
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended and other accounting
principles generally accepted in India. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the
Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection of the
appropriate accounting software for ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations
including those related to retention of audit logs; selection and application of appropriate accounting
policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design,
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the
preparation and presentation of the Financial Statements that give a true and fair view and are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

8. In preparing the Financial Statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

9. The Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

10. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as awhole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these Financial Statements.

11. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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11.1. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

11.2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances Under section 143(3)(i} the Act, we are
also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal
financial controls with reference to Financial Statements in place and the operating
effectiveness of such controls.

11.3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

11.4. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the Financial Statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

11.5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

12. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

13. Wealso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

14. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (‘the Order’), issued by the Central
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the ‘Annexure A’
a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to the extent applicable.

15. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

15.1. We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit.
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15.2. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company so
far as it appears from our examination of those books.

15.3. The balance sheet, the statement of profit and loss including other comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement dealt with by this Report are in
agreement with the books of account.

15.4. In our opinlon, the aforesaid linancial Statements comply with the Ind AS specified under
Section 133 of the Act read with the relevant rules thereunder.

15.5. On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31 March 2024
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31 March
2024 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

15.6. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to Financial
Statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our
separate Reportin ‘Annexure B'.

15.7. Inouropinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration
paid by the Company to its directors during the currentyear is in accordance with the provisions
of Section 197 of the Act.

16. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our opinion and to the best of our
information and according to the explanations given to us:

16.1. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations as at 31 March 2024 on its financial
position in its Financial Statements - Refer Note 37 to the Financial Statements;

16.2. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which
there were any material foreseeable losses.

16.3. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and
Protection Fund by the Company.

16.4. The Management has represented , to best of their knowledge and belief, that no funds have
been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any
other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies),
including foreign entities (‘Intermediaries’), with the understanding, whether recorded in
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend or investin
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company
(‘Ultimate Beneficiaries’) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate
Beneficiaries.

16.5. The Management has represented, to best of their knowledge and belief, that no funds have
been received by the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities
(‘Funding Parties’), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the
Company shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities
identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party {(‘Ultimate
Beneficiaries’) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate
Beneficiaries.
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16.6. Bascd on such audit procedures, that have been considered reasonable and appropriate in the
circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the
representation under para 16.4 and 16.5 contain any material misstatement.

16.7. Inour opinion and according to information and explanation given to us, the Company has not
declared or paid dividend during the year, accordingly compliance with section 123 of the Act
by the Company is not applicable.

16.8. Based on our examination which included test checks, the company has used an accounting
software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit
log) facility and the same has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions
recorded in the software. Further, during the course of our audit we did not come across any
instance of audit trail feature being tampered with.

As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is applicable from April 1, 2023,
reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 on preservation
of audit trail as per the statutory requirements for record retention is not applicable for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024,

For KKC & Associates LLP

Chartered Accountants

(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP)

Firm Registration Number: 105146W/W100621

w
e
Soorej Kombaht
Partner
ICAl Membership No: 164366
UDIN: 24164366BKGQBL3412
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Date: 23 April 2024
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Annexure ‘A’ to the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Financial Statements of Bajaj Finserv Direct
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Referred to in paragraph 14 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our
report of even date)

i. ()

(b)

i, (a)

The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars including quantitative
details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment (‘PPE’).

The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars of intangible assets.

The Company has a regular programme of physical verification of its PPE by which all PPE are
verified every year. Periodicity of physical verification is reasonable having regard to size of the
company and nature of assets. Pursuant to the programme, certain PPE were physically verified
by the Management during the year. In our opinion, and according to the information and
explanations given to us, no material discrepancies were noticed on such verification.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis
of our examination of the records of the Company, the Company does not hold any immovable
properties (other than properties where the Company is the lessee and the lease agreements
are duly executed in favour of the lessee). Accordingly, the provision of clause 3(i)(c) of the Order
is not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not revalued its PPE (including Right of Use assets) or intangible assets or both during the year.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis
of our examination of the records of the Company, no proceedings have been initiated or are
pending against the Company for holding any benami property under the Benami Transactions
(Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and rules made thereunder.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is
in distribution of financial products through digital means and does not have any physical
inventory, hence physical verification of inventory and reporting under paragraph 3(ii)(a) of the
Order is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not been sanctioned any working capital limits at any point of time during the year, from banks
or financial institutions. Accordingly, paragraph 3(ii)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not provided any guarantee or security or granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans,
secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, limited liability partnerships or any other parties
during the year. Accordingly, paragraphs 3(iii)(c), 3(iii)(d) and 3(iii)(e) of the Order are not
applicable.
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vi.

vil.

viii.

(b)

Further, according to the information and explanation given to us, the Company has made
investments during the year.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the investments
made are, prima facie, not prejudicial to the Company’s interest. The Company has not
provided any guarantees, given securities and the terms and conditions of the grant of all loans
and advances in the nature of loans and guarantees. Accordingly, paragraph 3(iii)(b) is not
applicable to that extent.

The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans to
Promoters/Related Parties (as defined in section 2(76) of the Act which are either repayable on
demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment. Accordingly, paragraph 3(iii)(f)
is not applicable.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not granted any loans, or given any guarantee or provided any securities as covered under the
provisions of sections 185 of the Act. In respect of the investments made by the Company, the
provisions of sections 186 of the Act have been complied with.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be deposits from the public during
the year in terms of directives issued by the Reserve Bank of India or the provisions of Sections
73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the Act and the rules framed there under.
Accordingly, paragraph 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

The Company is not required to maintain cost records under Section 148(1) of the Companies
Act, 2013 read with Companies (Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014 and hence reporting under
paragraph 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, amounts
deducted/accrued in the books of account in respect of undisputed statutory dues including
Goods and Services Tax, provident fund, employees' state insurance, income-tax, sales-tax,
service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, value added tax, cess and any other statutory dues
have generally been regularly deposited by the Company with the appropriate authorities

According to the information and explanations given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in
respect of provident fund, employees' state insurance, income-tax, Goods and Services Tax,
duty of customs, cess and other material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31 March 2024 for
a period of more than six months from the date they became payable.

We confirm that there are no dues of Goods and Services Tax, provident fund, employees’ state
insurance, income-tax, sales-tax, service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, value added tax,
cess and any other statutory dues, which have not been deposited to/with the appropriate
authority on account of any dispute.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis
of our examination of the records of the Company, we confirm that we have not come across
any transactions not recorded in the books of account which have been surrendered or
disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961.
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ix. (a) Inouropinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not taken any loans or other borrowings from any financial institutions, banks, government and
dues to debenture holders or in payment of interest thereon to any lender during the year.
Hence, reporting under clause 3(ix)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(b) According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our audit
procedures, we report that the Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or
financial institution or government or any government authority or any other lender.

(c) The Company has not taken any term loan during the year and there are no outstanding term
loans atthe be ginning of the year and hence, reporting under clause 3(ix)(c) of the Order is not
applicable to the Company.

(d) The Company has not raised any loans on short term basis and hence, reporting under clause
3(ix)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(e) The Company does not have any subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. Accordingly,
paragraph 3(ix)(e) and 3(ix)(f) of the Order are not applicable to the Company.

x. (a) The Company did not raise money by way of initial public offer or further public offer (including
debt instruments) during the year. Accordingly, reporting under paragraph 3(x)(a) of the Order
is not applicable,

(b) Inouropinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has
not made any preferential allotment / private placement of shares / fully / partly / optionally
convertible debentures during the year. Accordingly, reporting under paragraph 3(x)(b) of the
Orderis not applicable.

xi. (a) Inouropinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, there has been
no fraud by the Company or any fraud on the Company that has been noticed or reported during
the year. Accordingly, reporting under paragraph 3(xi)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, no report under
sub-section (12) of section 143 of the Act has been filed by the auditors in Form ADT-4 as
prescribed under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central
Government.

(c) As represented to us by the Management, there are no whistleblower complaints received by
the Company during the year.

Xii. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the Company is
not a Nidhi company. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

Xii. According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our examination of the

records of the Company, transactions with the related parties are in compliance with Sections
177 and 188 of the Act where applicable and details of such transactions have been disclosed in
the financial statements as required by the applicable accounting standards.
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xiv. (a) In our opinion and based on our examination, the Company has an internal audit system
commensurate with the size and nature of its business.

(b) We have considered the internal audit reports of the Company issued till date, for the period
under audit.

XV. According to the information and explanations given to us, in our opinion duting the year the
Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its directors or persons
connected with its directors. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

xvi. (a) Inouropinion,the Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-1A of the Reserve
Bank of India Act, 1934. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xvi) of the Order is not applicable to the
Company.

(b) The Company has not conducted any Non-Banking Financial or Housing Finance activities
without obtaining a valid CoR from the Reserve Bank of India as per the Reserve Bank of India
Act, 1934,

(c) The Company is not a CIC as defined in the regulations made by Reserve Bank of India.

(d) Accordingto the information and explanation given to us, in the group (in accordance with Core
Investment Companies (CICs) (Reserve Bank) Directions 2016) there are 17 companies forming
part of the promoter/promoter group of the Company which are CICs. Further, as informed
these CICs are unregistered CICs as per paragraph 9.1 of Notification No. RBI/2020-21/24 dated
13t August 2020 of the Reserve Bank of India.

XVii. According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has incurred cash
losses in the financial year and in the immediately preceding financial year. The amount of cash
loss in the current year is Rs. 21.67 crores and in previous year is Rs.0.80 crores.

Xviii, There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly
paragraph 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

XiX. According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of the financial
ratios, ageing and expected dates of realization of financial assets and payment of financial
liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements, our knowledge of the
Board of Directors and Management plans and based on our examination of the evidence
supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to believe that
any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report that the Company is not
capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due
within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an
assurance as to the future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based
on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any
assurance that all liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date,
will get discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.
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XX. According Lo the information and explanations given Lo us and based on our examination of the
records of the Company, the provision of CSR is not applicable to the Company. Accordingly,
provision of clause 3(xx)(a) and 3(xx)(b) of the Order are not applicable.

XX The Company dues nol have any subsidiary, associate or joint venture company and is not
required to prepare consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xxi) of the
Order is not applicable to the Company.

For KKC & Associates LLP

Chartered Accountants

(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP)

Firm Registration Number: 105146W/W100621
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Annexure ‘B’ to the independent Auditors’ report on the Financial Statements of Bajaj Finserv Direct
Limited for the year ended 31 March 2024

(Referred to in paragraph 15.6 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our
report of even date)

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to the aforesaid Financial Statements under
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’).

Opinion

1. We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements of Bajaj
Finserv Direct Limited ‘the Company’ as at 31 March 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the Financial
Statements of the Company for the year ended on that date.

2. Inouropinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls with
reference to the Financial Statements and such internal financial controls were operating effectively
as at 31 March 2024, based on the internal controls over financial reporting criteria established by the
Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India (‘the Guidance Note’).

Management’s responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

3. The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial
controls based on the internal controls over financial reporting criteria established by the Company
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note. These
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial
controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business,
including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and
detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s responsibility

4. Ourresponsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference
to the Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing (‘SA ‘), prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act, to
the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls with reference to the Financial
Statements. Those SAs and the Guidance Note require that we comply with the ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal
financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements were established and maintained and
whether such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

5. Ourauditinvolves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls system with reference to the Financial Statements and their operating
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements
included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to the Financial
Statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design
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Chartered Accountants
(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP)

and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error.

6. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate Lo provide a basis
for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to the Financial
Statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to the Financial Statements

7. A company’s internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of Financial Statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal financial controls with reference to the Financial
Statements include those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets ofthe
Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of Financial Statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorisations of management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the
Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the Financial Statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to the Financial Statements

8. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to the Financial
Statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls,
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to the Financial Statements to future
periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to the Financial
Statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

For KKC & Associates LLP

Chartered Accountants

(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP)

Firm Registration Number: 105146W/W100621

, w

} Mw”k ,-/;t._-__h
Soorej Kombaht . ,:‘)AL"
Partner C?iarteresd
ICAI Membership No: 164366 Accountants

UDIN: 24164366BKGQBL3412

Place: Pune
Date: 23 April 2024
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BAJAJ FINSERYV DIRECT LIMITED
BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2024

In X crore
Particulars Note No.|  As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 3 62,77 59.61
Intangible assets 3 85.20 80.04
Financial Assets
Investments 4 4883
Other financial assets 5 2R 46 6.65
Other non-current assets 6 5.44 3.19
181.87 19832
Current assets
Financial Assets
[nvestments 4 35995 449 93
Trade receivables 7 54 37 38.25
Cash and cash equivalents 8 3001 4.96
Other financial assets 5 6,76 9.53
Current lax assets (net) 8,65 1.36
Other current assets [ 2834 2523
488.08 529.26
Total Assets 669.95 727.58
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Equity Share Capital 9 3.12 312
Instruments entirely equity in nature 10 803.41 803 .41
Other equity 11 (278.39) (205 .66)
Total cquity 528.14 600.87
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
Lease liabilities 15 2813 31.26
Provisions 12 033
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 13
28.13 31.59
Curvrent liabilitics
Financial Liabilities
Lease liabilities 15 14 31 1215
Trade payables 14
Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 725 3.62
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises 985 14 46
Other financial liabilities 15 6732 5293
Other current liabilities 16 13,92 10.89
Provisions 12 1.03 107
113.68 95.12
Total Equity and Liabilities 669.95 727.58
Summary of material accounting policies followed by the Company 2C

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
[n terms of our report of even date

For KKC & Associates LLP

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Chartered Accountants M ¢ e { lg
(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP) m\ﬂq’\ PU.d.‘/

Firm Registration No: 105146W/ W 100621

;w"\‘)”/g

Soorej Kombaht
Partner

[CAl Membership No: 164366
Pune: 23 April 2024

Anish Amin
Chairman
DIN: 00070679

Ashish Panchal
Whole Time Director & CEO
DIN: 10106286

Narmratu Surand Shah
Company Secretary

Mayuir Patwardhan
Chairman, Audit Commiltee
DIN: 07539410

Anshuman Mishra
Head Finance
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BAJAJ FINSERY DIRECT LIMITED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

In X crore

Year ended Year ended

Particulars Note No. 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
(1) |Revenue from contracts with customers 17 436.56 35786
(ITy |Other income 18 3858 33.28
(I1I) |Total income (I+11) 475.14 391.14
(IV) |Expenses
Employee benefits expense 19 25429 182 04
Finance costs 20 3.30 220
Depreciation and amortisation expense 21 56.73 53.89
Other expenses 22 233.45 204.98
Total expenses 547.77 443.11
(V) |Loss before tax (FI1-1V) (72.63) (51.97)
(V1) |Tax expense
Current tax - -
Deferred tax - <
Total tax expense 23 - -
(VII) |Loss for the period (V-VI) (72.63) (51.97)

(VI1I)|Other comprehensive income

{tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans (0.12) (0.37)
Tax impact on above - &

(IX) |Other comprehensive income for the period (net of tax) (VII+VIII) (0.12) (0.37)
Total comprehensive income for the period (72.75) (52.34)
(X) |Basic and diluted Earnings per share (in %) 24 (232.79) (166.57)

(Nominal value per share X 10)

Summary of material accounting policies followed by the Company 2C
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
In terms of our report of even date On behalf of the Board of Directors

For KKC & Associates LLP
Chartered Accountants
(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP)

FFirm Registration No: 105146W/ W 100621

Soorej Kombaht

Partner

ICAI Membership No: 164366
Pune: 23 April 2024

Anish Amin
Chairman
DIN: 00070679

Ashisl’ Panchal
Whole Time Director & CEO
DIN: 10106286

Alandal?

-
Namrata Surana Shah
Company Secretary

M
Chairman, Audit Commitiee
DIN: 07539410

atwardhan

Anshuman Mishra
Head Finance



A. Equity sharc eapital

BAJAJ FINSERY DIRECT LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHHANGES IN EQUITY FOR TIIE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

In ¥ crore
q Year ended Year ended
GENIRITE NoteNo. | 31 Mareh 2024 31 Murch 2023
Al the beginning of the year 312 312
Changes in equity share capital during the year . .
Balnee us ai 31 March 2024 9 3.12 3.12
B. Instruments cntirely equity in nature
In T crore
Year ended Year ended
“ticul .
e an NoteNo- | 51 March 2024 31 March 2023
At the beginning of the year 803 41 803 41
Addition during the year = 5
Balnnce as at 31 March 2024 10 803.41 803.41
C. Other equity
Current year
In ¥ crore
Reserves and surplus
ticuls . Total other equi
Particulars Note No. » ) ) . Share based otal other equity
Securities premium | Retained earnings
payments reserve
Relained earnings
At the beginning of the year 2,07 (210.72) 2,99 (205.66)
Received during the year -
Loss for the year - (7263) (72 63)
Recopnition of share based payments lo employees - 002 002
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) - (012) - (0.12)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 i 2.07 283.47) 3oL (278.39)
Previous year
Reserves and surplus
- P
rarticubors Note No, B ) i : Share based Total other equily
Securities premium | Retained earnings
paynients rescrve
Retained earnings
At (he beginning of the year 207 {158.38) 2,75 (153.56)
Received during the year . :
Loss for Ihe year (5197) (5197
Recognition of share based payments to employees - 024 024
Other comprehensive income (net of tax) (037) (037
Balance as at 31 March 2023 1 2.07 (210.72) 2,99 (205.66)
Summary of material accounting policies followed by the Company 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements

In terms of our report of even date

For KKC & Associates L.LP

Chartered Accounlants

(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP)
Firm Registralion No: 105146W/ W100621

Soorej Kombaht

Pariner

ICAl Membership No: 164366
Pune: 23 April 2024

BN 00T

M

Whole Time Director & CECY
DIN: 10106286

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mayir Patwlardhan

Mw 5P PWO(\(_E":_"‘_

Anish Amin
Chairman

Chairman, Audil Commillee

DIN: 07539410

Anshuman Mishra
Head Finance

A~

arheatn Surana Shafl
Company Secretary




BAJAJ FINSERV DIRECT LIMITED

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2024

in & crore
Particulars For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
L. Operating activities

Profit/ (loss) before tax (72.63) (51.97)
Adiustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation (56.73) (53.89)
Amortisation of (premium)/discount on acquisition of debt securities on inv 14.38 11,57
Remeasurement (gain)/loss on defined benefit plans 0.12 0.37
Net gain/ (loss) on sale of assets 0.12 0.19
Net gain/ (loss) on sale of financial instruments 272 6.27
Interest expense from fair valuation of deposits (0.36) (0.30)
Interest on lease deposits (3.30) (2.20)
Interest income on investments 15.02 12.60
Securities premium reserve - -
Share based payments reserve (6.27) 691)
Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 022 031)

(34.08) (32.61)
Cash from operation before working capital changes (38.55) (19.36)
Working capital changes
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (16.12) (5.63)
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances (35.15) (16.47)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables (0.98) 9.40
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities 17.42 15.60
Increase/(decrease) in provisions (037) 0.65

(35.20) 3.55
Income-tax paid, including tax deducted at source (net of refunds) (7.28) 1.39
Net cash (used)/generated in operating activities (A) (81.03) (14.42)

Carried forward (81.03) (14.42)




BAJAJ FINSERYV DIRECT LIMITED

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2024

in  crore
Particulars For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Brought forward (81.03) (14 42)
11. Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (16.62) (13 56)
Sales proceeds of property, plant and equipment 193 307
Purchases/intemnal development to intangibles (39.42) (43 98)
Purchase of investments measured at amortised cost (514.56) (82121)
Sale of investments measured al amortised cost 689.67 34993
Investment in Fixed Deposits - (100.00)
Proceeds fiom redemption of fixed deposits - 100 00
Interest received on investments 19.15 205
Sale of investments measured at FVTPL 643.87 1,041.38
Purchase of investments measured at FVTPL (662.85) (523.77)
Net cash generrated from/ (used in) investing activities (B) 121.17 (6.09)
[II. Financing activities
Deemed equily contribution from holding company
Proceeds from issue of share capital - -
Payment of lease liability (15.09) (2.6
Net cash generated from financing activities (C) (15.09) (12.61)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 25.05 (33.12)
Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year 496 3808
Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year 30.01 496
For KKC & Associates LLP R
Chartered Accountants M‘/\ E ~ ' cD\,Q./\
(formerly Khimji Kunverji & Co LLP) v\‘\ P
Firm Registration No: 105146W/ W100621 Anish Amin Maythr Patwardhan
Chairman Chairman, Audit Commitiee
C}_,.MD w . DIN. 00070679 DIN: 07539410
-ﬁ M // :5 5 O C \\ i
Q’r TN - *
Soorej Kombaht o AT Tanchal nshuman Mishra Namrata Surana Shah
Chartered ;
Partner Accountants Whole Time Director & CEO Hend Finance Company Secretary
ICAI Membership No: 164366 DIN: 10106286
Pune: 23 April 2024
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

1 Corporate information

Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited (the “Company”) is a public company limited by shares, domiciled in India
and incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956. The Company was incorporated on
7 February 2014 and started commercial operation on 1 July 2018. The Company is engaged in business of
distribution of financial products tough digital means. The Cuinpany is tegistered with Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India (IRDAI) as a composite Corporate Agent for distributing
life insurance and general insurance products in India and also is a Registered Investment Advisor (RIA)
under SEBI regulations. During the year, the Company opened its overseas branch at Dubai.

The Company’s registered office is at Bajaj Auto Limited Complex, Mumbai-Pune road, Pune,
Mabharashtra, India. The parent of the Company is Bajaj Finserv Ltd (hereinafter referred to as “Holding
Company” or “parent”).

The financial statements were approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on
23 April 2024,

2A Presentation of financial statements

The Company prepares and presents its Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss and the Statement
of Changes in Equity in the format prescribed by Division II of Schedule 111 to the Act. The Statement of
Cash Flows has been prepared and presented as per the requirements of Ind AS 7 'Statement of Cash
Flows'.

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Company’s normal
operating cycle and other criteria set out in the Schedule 111 (Division 1) to the Act. Based on the nature of
products and the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and
cash equivalents, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of current
or non-current classification of assets and liabilities.

The Company generally reports financial assets and financial liabilities on a gross basis in the Balance
Sheet. They are offset and reported net only where it has legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and the Company intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously as permitted by Ind AS. Similarly, the Company offsets incomes and expenses
and reports the same on a net basis where the netting off reflects the substance of the transaction or other
events as permitted by Ind AS.

2 B  Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)
notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) read together with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended from time to time and other relevant provisions
of the Act, on an accrual basis.

Further, the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis as the Management is satisfied that
the Company shall be able to continue its business for the foreseeable future and no material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the going concern assumption. In making this assessment, the
Management has considered a wide range of information relating to present and future conditions,
including future projections of profitability, cash flows and capital resources.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial assets and
financial liabilities which have been measured at fair value or amortized book value.

The financial statements are presented in %, which is also the Company’s functional currency and all the
values are rounded off to the nearest crore, except when otherwise indicated.
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

Estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of these financial statements and disclosures made
therein are based upon Management’s evaluation of the relevant facts and circumstances as of the date of
the financial statements, which may differ from the actual results at a subsequent date. The following are
items which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be
different than those originally asscsscd. Detailed information about each of these estimates is included in
the relevant notes together with information about basis of calculation for each affected line item in the
financial statements:

a) Provision for employee benefits
b) Impairment and useful life of intangibles
¢) Fair valuation of financial instruments.

2C. Summary of material accounting policies
1) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured and there exists reasonable certainty of its
recovery.

a) Revenue from sale of services

i) Income from distribution of financial products
Distribution income is earned by distribution of services and products of other entities
under distribution arrangements such as distribution of loan products, insurance
products, credit cards, fixed deposits, bundled products and services etc. The income so
earned is recognised on transfer of promised services and / or products to a customer on
behalf of other entities or delivery of contractual outcome to other entities, as the case
may be.

ii) Income from manpower supply services
Income from manpower supply services is recognized on accrual basis as and when
services are rendered and it becomes due on contractual terms with the parties.

iii) Income from providing software services
Software services provided by the Company are primarily under variable price contracts.
Revenue from software services is recognized in the accounting period in which they are
rendered. Any changes in the revenue recognized basis estimates, is reflected during the
period such change in estimate is known to the management. Customers are invoiced on
a monthly basis and consideration is payable by customer when invoiced.

iv) Income from sale of value added services
The Company recognizes Income from sale of value added services on rendering of
services.

b) Other income

Interest income

Interest income from debt instruments is recognised using the effective interest rate
(EIR) method on financials assets subsequently measured under amortised cost. The EIR
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. When calculating
the effective interest rate, the Company estimates the expected cash flows by
considering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider the
expected credit losses.

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the asset) is calculated by considering.any

discount or premium on acquisition, fees and costs that gFe g T8 sral part of thé BIR.-
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

The Company recognises interest income using a rate of return that represents the best
estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the instrument.

Interest on income tax refund is recognized on receipt of refund advise.
The Company recognises Other Income on accrual basis.
2) Property, plant and equipment

A. Recognition and derecognition
Property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost of acquisition less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, if any, consistent with the criteria specified in Ind AS 16
'Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment not ready for the intended use
on the date of Balance Sheet are disclosed as “Capital work-in-progress”.

B. Depreciation and amortisation methods, estimated useful lives and residual value

Depreciation is provided on a pro rata basis on straight line method to allocate the cost, net of
residual value over the estimated useful lives of the assets as specified in the Schedule II of
the Companies Act, 2013, except for Vehicles which are depreciated over four years on the
basis of management’s best estimate.

Depreciation on leasehold improvements is provided on straight line method over the
primary period of lease of premises or 5 years whichever is less.

3) Intangible assets and amortization thereof

Intangible assets, representing softwares are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment.

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attributable costs
necessary to create, produce, and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by the Company. For internally developed intangibles, such as software, platforms,
applications, expenditure pertaining to research is charged to the Statement of profit and loss.

Expenditure incurred on development of internally generated intangible assets, is recognised as
an intangible asset, if and only if the future economic benefits attributable to the use of such
know-how are probable to flow to the Company and the costs/expenditure can be measured
reliably.

The intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over a period of five years,
which is the Management’s estimate of its useful life. The useful lives of intangible assets are
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

Intangible assets not ready for the intended use on the date of Balance Sheet are disclosed as
“Intangible assets under development”.

4) Investments and financial assets
Recognition and initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All financial assets are recognised initially
at fair value. Further, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value through profit or

the fair value. However, trade receivables that do not contain a sig@figan popemt =~ C*’ N\
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

Subsequent Measurement

Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the Company’s business model for
managing the financial assct and the cash flow charucteristies of the financial asset.
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

¢ those to be measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), and
e those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost.

The classification is done depending upon the Company’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets classified as ‘measured at fair value’, gain/(loss) will either be recorded in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income, as elected. For assets classified as ‘measured at amortised
cost’, this will depend on the business model and contractual terms of the cash flows.

Business model assessment
The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups
of financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Company's business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a
higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:

¢ How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business
model are evaluated and reported to the entity's key management personnel

o The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed

e The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the
Company’s assessment

If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Company's
original expectations, the Company does not change the classification of the remaining financial
assets held in that business model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly
originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

The SPPI test (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest)
As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual terms of
financial instruments to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

“Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial
recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset.

Subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost e.g.
debentures, bonds, certificate of deposits etc. A gain/(loss) on a financial asset that is
subsequently measured at amortised cost is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss when
the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in
investment income using the effective interest rate method.

Subsequently measured at FVTPL
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost, are measured at FVTPL e.g.
investments in mutual funds. A gain/(loss) on a financial asset that is subsequently measured at
FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net in the Statement of Profit and Loss with
other gain/(loss) in the period in which it arises.

The Company has designated investments in mutual funds as at FVIPL. Debl instruments
included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in
the profit and loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and if so, assess the need to provide
for the same in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

ECL impairment loss allowance (or reversal) recognized during the period is recognized as
income/ expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss (if any). This amount is reflected under the
head ‘other expenses’ in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Company has no
reasonable expectation of recovery basis past trends. Where the amount to be written off is
greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is recorded as an expense in the
period of write off. Any subsequent recoveries against such assets are credited to statement of
Profit and Loss.

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Company does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart
from the exceptional circumstances in which the Company acquires, disposes of, or terminates a
business line. Financial liabilities are never reclassified.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised only when:

e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or

e The Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either: (a) the Company has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or (b) the Company has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the assets Any gain or loss on derecognition will be recognised in the
Statement of Profit and Loss..

5) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gain and loss, including any interest expense, are
recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gain
and loss are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss Any gain or loss on derecognition is also
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

Recognition and initial measurement

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value adjusted for incremental transaction costs
that arc dircctly attributable to the financial liabilities except in the case of financial liabilities
recorded at fair value through profit or loss where the transaction costs are charged to profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, all financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of liabilities are recognised in
the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires.

6) Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are tested for impairment at each reporting date and also whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).

Impairment losses of continuing operations, are recognised in the statement of profit and loss.
7) Employee benefits

a) Compensated Absences and Leave Encashment

Privilege leave entitlements are recognised as a liability, in the calendar year of rendering of
service, as per the rules of the Company. The liability for accumulated leave which can be
availed and/or encashed at any time during the tenure of employment is recognized using the
projected unit credit method at the actuarially determined value by an appointed actuary. The
liability for accumulated leave which is eligible for encashment within the same calendar year is
provided for at prevailing salary rate for the entire unavailed leave balance as at the balance sheet
date.

b) Gratuity

Payment for present liability of future payment of gratuity is being made to approved gratuity
fund, which fully covers the same under Cash Accumulation Policy and Debt fund of the Life
Insurance Corporation of India (LIC) and Bajaj Allianz Life Insurance Company Ltd. (BALIC).
However, any deficit in plan assets managed by LIC and BALIC as compared to the liability on
the basis of an independen( actuarial valuation is recognised as a liability. The Calculation
includes assumptions with regard to discount rate, salary escalation rate, attrition rate and
mortality rate. Management determines these assumptions in consultation with the plan's actuaries
and past trend.

The liability or asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair
value of plan assets. The defined benefit oblgation is calculated annually by actuaries using the
projected unit credit method in conformity with the principles and manner of computation
specified in Ind AS 19.
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit
expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

¢) Employee stock option scheme

Stock options are granted to eligible employees under Employee Stock Option Scheme, 2018 as
formulated by Bajaj Finserv Limited (“Holding Company”). The scheme is administered through
Bajaj Finserv Employee Stock Option Trust (“The Trust”). The mode of settlement of the scheme
is through equity shares of the holding company. Further, cost of such options i.e Option
premium, which is reimbursed to the holding company is accounted in line with Ind AS 102
‘Share based payments.

The fair value of options granted under the Bajaj Finserv Ltd. - Employee Stock Option Scheme
(BFS-ESOS) is recognised as an employee benefits expenses. This amount is reimbursed to the
holding company and is accounted in line with Ind AS 102 ‘Share based payments. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

e including any market performance conditions (e.g., the entity’s share price)

e excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance conditions (e.g.,
continuance of an employee of the entity over a specified time period), and

e including the impact of any non-vesting conditions

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit
or loss.

In case of forfeiture/lapse stock option, which is not vested, amortised portion is reversed by
credit to employee compensation expense. In a situation where the stock option expires
unexercised, the related amount is recovered from the holding company.

d) Short-term employee benefits and defined contribution plans

All employee benefits payable within twelve months of rendering the services are classified as
short-term employee benefits. Benefits such as salaries, bonus and other non-monetary benefits
are recognised in the period in which the employee renders the related services. All short term
employee benefits are accounted for on undiscounted basis.

The Company has made contribution to superannuation fund, provident fund and pension scheme
as per the scheme of the Company or to Government authority and this contribution is recognized
in P&L as and when employce renders the related service.

8) Taxes

a) Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, in accordance with the Income Tax Act,
1961; and the Income Computation and Disclosure Standards prescribed therein. The tax
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted, at the reporting date.

b) Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside

profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equey o f"“ t tax items anf:Fg kS
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited
Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate.

¢) Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax is determined
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the
deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax
losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

9) Provisions and contingent liabilities

The Company creates a provision when there is present obligation as a result of a past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A disclosure for a
contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but
probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When the likelihood of outflow of resources is
remote, no provision or disclosure is made.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax
rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

10) Leases

The Company’s lease majorly consists of office space taken on lease.

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Company as a lessee

i) Right-of-use asscts

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initia) direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of

the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accg =paolicies in para 6 N

Impairment of non-financial assets, 5 g C N
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

ii) Lease Liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not
readily delerminable, using the government yield for the average lease period. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liahilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting [rom a change in an index
or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase
the underlying asset.

iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
equipment (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

11) Foreign currency translation

Initial recognition

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency, by applying to the foreign
currency amount the exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the
date of the transaction.

Conversion

Foreign currency monetary items are re-translated using the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting
date. Non-monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical cost denominated in a foreign
currency, are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences
All exchange differences are accounted in the Statement of Profit and Loss or other comprehensive
income as permitted under the relevant Ind AS.

12) Fair value measurement

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place in the accessible principal market or the most advantageous
accessible market as applicable. The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. All assets and liabilities
for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy into Level 1, Level II and Level Il based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
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Investiments

1. Investment carried at amortlsed cost

1n Cerdificate of Deposity
Quoled

Export Import Bank of India
Axis Bank

Bank ol Barods

Punjab Notional Bank
Canar Bank

HDFC Bank

National Bank for Agricultural & Rurnl Develapment
SIDBI

Amortised Cast

In Bonds & Debentures

Quoted

Power Finance Corporation

‘National Bank for Agriculiural & Rural Development
Rural Electrification Corporation

ICIC] Bank

Axis Bank

Amortlsed Cost

15 Investment carrled a( Fulr Value through profit snd loss

Investment in Mutual Funds

Quoted

Nil (31 March 2023 : 28874 561 ) Nippon India Liquid Fund
359022 890 (3} March 2023 :Nil) Bajgj Finserv Liquid Fund
Fulr Value

Aggregute murket value of quoted investments
All Investments mentioned above are within Indin

Other finaneind pssety

(Unsecured, good, unless stuted ofherwlsc)

Securily deposit

[nterest scerued on investments

6 Other nesets

(Unsecurvd, good, untess stated othern lse)

Adlvances ceowveralile in carh ar Kind
Advances to relaled parties

Unsecured considercd pood

Doubtiul

Provision lor doubtiul advances

Gratuity (refer note 27)
Other receivable

Note: Advances lo reluted partics contribute 10 95 74% of la] sdvanees as on March 31, 2024 (March 31, 2023: 54 96%)

Non-current " Current
vl As at
31 Mareh 2024 31 March 2023 31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
in ¥ crore In € crore In € crore In € crofe
e o © 2435
o - 24 26 4764
- o 2476 2495
o - - 24175
- o 2481 24137
o - 24 20 2495
E o o 2153
S - 4949 -
o - 147.582 194.54
- 24 98 4499
2433 7457 4958
24 50 49 86 4476
6505
2519 sn
- 48.83 174.60 239.49
3 1590
3783 E
S = 37.83 1590
48.83 35995 449.93
Non-curreni Current
Asat Asat
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 Murch 2023
In € crore in € crore In Bcrore In ® crore
2846 463 034 100
- 202 642 853
28.46 6.65 6.76 9.53
Non- Current Current
Asal As at
31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023 31 Murch 2024 31 Murch 2023
In €crore In ¥ crore In ¥ crore In € crore
405 072
- 018 059
123 [El
423 131
043
544 319 23.68 2392
544 3.19 28.34 25.23
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

H'-ll serntioal, ainisibered sl siliss plaivel el
Current

As at
31 Murch 2024 31 Murch 2023

In € crore his ¥ aroe

Receivables
- towards disiribution of third party producis 3221 24 82
- towards sale ol soliware scrvices 1532 1259
- towards manpower supply services 647 043
- others 137 ol
. 34.25

e
A at

Contraet Balunees A Muewh 1074 F1 March 2023
In ¥ arara In ¥ crore
| redo roodivables §4.27 aR05

Accounts receivable are recognised when the right (o consideration becomes unconditionul Contract liability relutes to pavments received in edvence of performance under the contract

No trade or olher reveivable are due from directors or other officers of the company cither severally or jointly with any olher person. Nor eny trade or other receivable urc due from [irms or private companies respectively in which any dircctor is a partner,
director or a member

Trade reccivables ngelng schedule Qutstanding for follewing periods from due date of payment
Not due Less than 6 6 months - | year More (hun | year Totul
months
3( March 2024
Undi: d trade i idered good 4865 512 £ = 54.37
Unbilled dues . -
31 March 2023
Undi d trade ivables — idered pood 3342 483 . 38.25
Unbilled dues - . -

8 Cash and eash equi

Currenl
As
31 Murch 2024 31 Murch 2023
In R crore In € crore

Balances with banks

an currenl accounis 3001 496
3001 4.96




Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Noles to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

Authorised
35,00,000 equity shares of T 10 each

1ssuedl, subscribed and fully paid-up shares
31,20,000 equity shares of 2 10 cach

illation of the shares ding ut the

wnd ut the end af the year

Equity shures

Al the beginning of the year

Liquily shares issued during the year
Outstanding wt the end o the yeur

Terms/rights attached tv equity shares

The Company has only one class of cquity shares hasing a par value of 2 10 per share: Each holder of equily shares 1s entitled to one vote pa
archolders in the annual general mecling is paid in hidian rupees. [n the event of liquidation of the Company, tie holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remuining assels of the Company, aller distribution of all
preferential smomnts The distribution will be in proportion to the number ol equity shures held by the sharcliolders

Dincetors and approved by (h

Detalls of sharchulders holding more than 5% shares In the Company

Equliy shares of 2 10 ench fully puid

Details of promaoter sharcholding
Shares held by proimoters at the end of the year
Promoter name

Vinpaj Frmvsery Lul

Asal

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In € crore In € crare
330 350
312 312
312 3.12

— As at As nt =
31 Murch 2024 31 March2023
Na, In % crore Niw In 2 crore
3,120,000 312 3,120,000 312
3,120,000 .12 3,120,000 Ji12

re The inlerim dividend devlared by the Board of Directs

s and the dividend proposed by the Boaid of

Instrunients enfirely equity in nature

Balance os at the beginning ol the year
Add: Addition during the ycar
Closing balance

Represents loan amount received by the Campany Trom Bajuj Finserv Limiied 2522 94 crore and Bajaj

Reserves and surplus ¢

Securitles premium

I3ulance us at the beginning of he year
Add: Received during e year
Balaiee in seeurities premium resemve

Retained carnings

Balanee s al the beginning ol the year

Prolit/(loss) or the year

[lems of viher compichensive income reeognised direetly in retamed carmings
Acluarinl gainslosses of defined benelit plans

Less: Appropriations

Balance in retuined camings

Share based payments reserve

s al (he beginning of the vear
n of share based payments o employees
Balance in share based paynients resenve

Nature and purpose of reserve ¢

Securllies premium

As i As nt
31 March 2024 N 31 March 2023

Nos. % Holding Nos. % Holding

2,500,000 80 13% 2,500,000 80 13%

620,000 1987% 620,000 19 87%

As at As al
31 March 2024 3iMarch202y =000
% Holdlng % Change durlng N, % Holdlng % Change during the
the vear Year
80 13% - 2,500,000 BO 13%

o Asat o

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

In®crore In € crore

80341 %0141
80341 80341

Seeurities premiwm is used Lo reeord the premium an ixsue of shares The reserve cun be ulilised only for limiled purposes in aceordance with section 52 and other provisions of the Companics Acl, 2013

Retained earnings

Relained camings represents the surplus i prolit and loss aceount and uppropi tations
change on aecount of remeasurement of the net defined benelit liability/(usset) as part of retained camings with separate disclosure, which comprises of:

- actuarial gams and loss
- retum on plan asset cluding amounts included in net intere:
- any change in the elect of the assel ceiling, exeluding amounts

Share based paynients resenve

Share based pay ments reserve is crealed as required by Ind AS 102 - Share Based Payments™ on the Employee Stock Option Scheme

on (he net defined benefit TiabiliAasse(): and
neiuded in net interest on the net defined benefit liabilit Aassel)

ance Limited 2280 47 crore. Any loan amount which is outstanding ut the end ol the loan tenure is compulsorily convertible into equity shares

As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
fn € crore In € crore
207 207
207 207
(21072) (158 3%)
(7263) (5197
©12) ©IN
B (28347) (21072)
299 275
002 024
301 299




Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes (o financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

- wrrvitl
= Asal As
31 Mureh 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In € crare In € crore In € crore IeCIoTe

Provision for employee henefils {See nole 27)
Provision [on gratuity i 033

Provision for compensated absenees —— - 103 107
- 0.33 1.03 1.07
13 Deferved tox linhilities (net)
As al
31 Muarch 2024 31 March 2023
In € crore In ¥ crore
Deferred tax linhHitles
On uecount of liming dilference in
Retiral and olhier benelits ©
Defined benefit pluns provisions - OC1 008
Financial instroments :
Fair valuation o mutual [unds inclwding FMP 008 002
Gross deferred tay llabilitles 008 0l
DieTerral tan nssers
On accounl o timing difference in
Retiral and other benefils
Delined benelit plans provisions - OC) 003
Recognized to the extent of Deterred tax Hability 005 010
Grass deferred tax assets 008 010

‘The Company oflsels tax assets and liahilities ir und only il'it hus o legally enforecble right 1o set off current tax nd current tax liabilitics and the delerred tax o
Delerred tax assels gre recognised for unused tax losses to the extent Ut it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses cun be utilised Si
that can e recognised, hased upon the likely liming and the level of Tuture laxable profits together wilh luture tax planning strolegies

and deferred tax liabilities relate 0 income (uxes levied by the same tax authorily
jud is required to ine the amount ol deferred tax assels

[he Company has brought forward wx losses These losses relate to brought forward business losses and unabsorbed depreviation The Company neither has any taxable temyporary dillerence nor any lax plunning opportunities ovuilable that could partly
support the recognition af these losses as deferred fax assets On this b the Company Tus delennined that it cannol recognise deferved fax assets on the tax Tosses brought forward

14 Trade navahles

Ai nt
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In®crore In®crore
Total oulstanding dues of nicro enlerprises and small enferprises 725 162
Lotal eutstanding dues of creditors other thun micro enterprises and small enterprises 985 14 46
17.10 18.08

Trade payables agelng schedule

Particulars Outstanding for following periods from duc date of payment
Not due Less than | yeur 1-2 yeurs 2-3 years Total
31 March 2024
MSMI: 725 - 7.25
Others 960 025 . 9.85
31 March 2023
MSME 362 . - 3.62
Others 1387 057 002 - [EX T3
There are no disputed dues
15 Other financial liahilities
Non-current Current
As n( As al
31 March 2024 31 March 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In ¥ crore In € crore In€crore In Bcrore
Lease liubility | See note 35| 2413 3126 1431 1215
Tamployee benetits payable . 2635 1842
Other payables* 4097 34 50
28.13 31.26 81.63 65.08
Refer note 32 for linancial Yiabililics measured ut amortised cost
*Other payables comprises of lability for expenses, salary payable and income received in advance
16 Other current liabilities -
As nl
31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
in Ecrore In® crore

Slaitiiony dhaesy panalile

1392 10 89
13.92 10.89




Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

For the yiur ended

31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
In®crore In € crore

Bovimie Troin santract with custonen
Type of Services
Income (rom distribulion of third purty products

Reluted porties® 27206 22721

Othary 219 074
Revenue (rom sullwane services w23 8502
Menpwer Supply ssrvices 6306 4449
Sale of value added services - -
Total revenuc from contract with customers 436.56 357.86
* |neludes insurance income 2 0 79 crore (31 March 2023 : 22 17 crone)
Geographical markets
India 436 56 357 86
Outside [ndia - .
Total revenue from contract with customers 436.56 357.86
Timing of revenuc recognilion
Services transferred al a point in time 436 56 5786
Services translerred over time -
Tolal res enue from contract with cusiomers 436.56 35786

18 Other income

For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

In ¥ crare In ®crore

Interest income on [ixed deposits . 153
Interest income on bonds/debentures 1477 o7
A isulion of premium/di: on i 1438 1157
Interest on income (X refund 009 020
Gain on valuation and gain on realisation of mutual funds measured ot FV I'PL 294 596
Provision no longer required 555 241
Olhers 085 054
38.58 33.28

19 Employee henelils cxpense

For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 Murch 2023

In € crore In ¥ crare

Suluties, woges and bonus lo employees 23432 164 74
Contribution to provident and other lunds [See note 27] 977 680
Share based payment (o employees [See note 34] 627 691
Stufl wellan: expenses 191 3359
254.29 182.04

20 Finance costs

For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In® crore In € crore
Interest on lease liabililics [See note 35] ) 220
3.30 2.20
21 Depreciation and amortisation .

Faor the yeur ended
31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
In® crore In € crara
Depreciation on property, plant und equipment 2247 16 69
Amount umortised against intangible assels 326 3720
[Sex nate 3} 56.73 53.89
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

22 Other expenses

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

Advertisement, branding and sales promotion

Information Technology expenses
Oulsoureing / back oflice expenses
Dealer incentive

Business support charges
‘I'ravelling cxpenses

‘Tralsing wndsawiiamg

Repairy and maintenanos
Profismonal and legel consultancy
Insurnnce

Power, luel, water and consumables
Subseription and lees

Paymient to auditor

Rent [See note 35]

Miscellaneous expenses

Payment to auditor

As nudltor
Audil lee

Other services (eertilication fees and other matters)

2% Tax

() Tax expense
Currenl tax
Current tax on prolils for the year

Adjustments for current tox ol prior periods

T'otal current tax expense

Deferred tux

Decrease/(increase) in delamed s assets
(Decrease)fincrease in deferred lax liobilities

Total deferred tax expenses/(benelit)
‘Tax expenscs

®) llntlon of tux oxy and the

Profit before tax

Tax aut the Indiun tx rute of 26% (Previous year - 26%)

profit

lled by Indla'y tux rate

‘Tox elliel of amounts which are deductible (non taxable) in calculating taxable income:

- Income Irom fair valuation ol mutua! funds

‘Tux expense

24 Earnings Per Share (EPS)

a_ Profit / (loss) for the vear (¥ crore)

Weighted average number of shares owlstanding during the year (Nos) (Basic)
Weighled averuge number of shares oulstanding during the year (Nos) (Diluted)

b Euarnings per share
Basic und Diluted 2
IFaos valug per shure

For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In ¥ crore In ¥ crore
8413 15,07
3961 4195
1920 3645
272 1901
1289 13.02
705 431
1%s 236
293 215
2.20 1
256 208
175 147
047 057
012 ol
027 024

200 408
233.45 20198

For the vear erled

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

ol 010
oo 001
&l=2 .15

For the yeur ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In® crore In ¥ crore
©08) 0 10)

008 00

(71263 (3197

For the year ended

31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
7263) 519N
3,120,000 3,120,000
327,410,400 327,410,400
3279 (166 57)

10 10

The Company has outstunding loan w hich is compulsority convertible into equily shores Since the potential equily shares are anti-dilulive in nature, they are nol considered or the caleulation of Diluted Lamings per share

25 Capital

Cupilal commitments
- lowards acqui

n of Inlungibles

- towards acquisition of Property, plunt ond equipments

26 Expenditure in foreign currency

Information lechnology expenses
Sales promotion expenses
Salary & reimbursements
Others

G
s ( Chartered \ 3, \\
o\ Accountants |__ /'
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As at
31 Murch 2024 31 March 2023
In ¥ crore n Bcrore
230 406
014 119
2,44 525

For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In®crore In ¥ crore
293 306
012 023
093
006



Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financlal statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

27 Employes bensfils

Liability for employee benefils has been delermined by an acluary, appoinled for the purpose, in conformily with the principles set out in the Indian Accounling

Standard 19 the delails of whirh are as hereunder

Funded schemes
Gratuity :

The Company provides for graluily paymenis to employees. The graluily benefil payable lo the employees of the Company is greater of the provisions of the Payment

of Graluily Act, 1972 and lhe Company'’s gratuily scheme. Employ who are in

service for a period of 5 years are &ligitie for gratuily. The graluily plan is

a lunded plan and the Company makes ibutions 1o appi graluily fund
(in ¥ arors
As at 31 Mar As at 31 Mar
Amount recognized in Balance Sheat 2024 2023
Gratuity Gratuity |
Present value of funded defined benefit obligalion 842 674
Fair value of plan assels (8.80) (7.04)
Net funded obligatian {0.48) (0.30)
|Present value of tnfunited dilingd beaehit obiigalion . =
cognized due to ansef limit 0.05 085
o benefit Hability / (assot) recognized In batance sheat (0.43) 0.36
Expense recognized in the Statement of profit and loss
Currenl service cost 210 156
Interesl on nel defined benefil liabilily / (assel) 001 0.12)
Total expense chirged to statgment of profit and loss 2.10 1.44
Amount recorded as Other Comprehensive Incoms
peiilig amount resogiized in OCH oulside stalement of profit and loss 433 4.70)
Remeasurements during the period due to
Changes in financial assumplions 0.14 (0om)
Changes in demographic assumplions - 012
Experience adjusiments 059 (0.5}
Actual relum on plan assels less inlerest on plan assels 004 021
Adjustment Lo recognize the elfect of assel ceiling {0 65) 0.65
Closing amount recognized in 0C| outside statemarnt of profit and loss (4.21) (4,33
As at 31 Mar As at 31 Mar
Reconciliation of net liability / (asset) 2024 2023
Opening nel defined benefit liability / (asset) 034 (147)
Expense charged lo slalemenl of profil and loss 210 144
Amounl recognized oulside slalement of profil and loss 012 037
Employer conlribulions (3.00) -
Impact of liability assumed or (setiled)* . =
nsing net defined henefi liability / {asset) (0.44) 0.34
As at 31 Mar As at 31 Mar
Movement in benefit obligation 2024 2023
Opening of defined benefil obligalion 874 594
Current service cost 210 156
Inlerest on defined benefil obligation 047 041
Remeasurements dus (o:

Actuarial loss / (gain) arising from change in financial assumplions 014 (0.09)

Actuarial loss / (gain) arising from change in demographic assumplions - 012

Actuarial loss / (gain) arising on accounl of experience changes 059 (0.52)
Benefits paid (0.87) (034)
Liabilities assumed / (sellled)* (0.95) 033)
Closing of defined benefit obligation 8.42 675
* On accounl of business combination or inler group Lransfer

As at 31 Mar As at 31 Mar
Movement in plan assets 2024 2023
Opening fair value af plan assets 704 740
Employer contribulions 3.00 -
Inlerest on plan assels 052 053
Remeasuremeants due fo;

Aclual relum on plan assels less interesl on plan assets (0.04) (021)
Benefits paid (0.67) (0 34)
Assels acquired / (sellled)* (0.95) (033)

f n 8.90 7.05

@n account of bisiness gombisalion or inler group tinnafer
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Bajaj FInserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

Grand Total

Disaggmgation of assets

Ag at 31 Mar
2024

Category of assets
Quoted value

Non quoted value
Insurer managed funds

7.04
7.04

890
oo

Sensitivity Analysis

Graluily is a lump sum plan and lhe cost of providing lhese benefils is {

assumption by 50 basis poinls.

to small in

ypically less

assumplions o which lhe benefit obligation resulls are particularly sensitive lo are discounl rate and fulure salary escalallon rale, The following lable summarizes lhe
impacl in percenlage lerms on the reporled defined benelit obligalion at ihe end of the reporting peried arising on accounl of an increase or decrease in the reporied

The key ial

A5 at 31 Mar 2024

As at 31 Mar 2023

al ihe accounting dale. There have been no changes from (he previous

Salary lati Salary escalation
e rite rate e
Benlor staff
Impac! of increase in 50 bps on DBO -335% 337% -3.19% 3 20%
Impacl of decrease in 50 bps on DBO 3 54% -3.23% 3.36% “E U
Junior staff
Impact of increase in 50 bps on DBO -3.26% 333% -3.21% 3.28%
linpact of iy 50 bps on DED 3:45% =3.18% 3.39% 3.13%
Thersa ilivilies have been laled {o show Lhe

| in defined benefil obligation in isolation and assuming lhere are no olher changes in markel condilions

periods in lhe and used in prep:

g the

Funding arrangement and policy

T {rustees of lhe plan have Ihe il

and Lax posilion as well as Jevel of under funding of the plan
Tha expectsd conlibulion payabie to he plan nex yaar is ¥ 5000000

The money contribuled by the Company fo lhe fund 10 finance the liabilities of Ihe plan has lo be invesled
of the fund lo an insurance company. The insurance cormpany in lum manages these funds as
per the mandale provided to lhem biy the lruslees and Lhe asset allocation which is within he permissible limiis prescribed in lhe insurance regulations

Thess 1s no compulsion on Ihe pari of lhe Company to fully pre fund Lhe fiabiilfy of the Plan. The Company’s philosophy is lo fund Lhe benefits based on iis own Heuifidity

Projected plan cash (low

The lable below shows lhe expecled cash flow profile of Ihe benefils 10 e paid |

rmenl inembisiaiis of the e

Less

Batwoon 1-2 Botween 2 -6

Over §

Total
a year years years wars

31 Mar 2024
Senior staff 027 027 087 351 4.93
Junilar statl 053 0.56 223 877 10.09
31 Mar 2023
Henlor slaf( 028 029 084 338 479
Junior staff 045 0.47 159 492 743
‘Weighted average duration of defined benefit obligation (in years) Asat 31 Mar Agat 3 Mar

2024 2023 |
Seniol Staff 6.88 6.00
Juninr Stalf 671 651
E} al Actuanal Assumptions (Expressed as Weighted Averages) =
Discound rale (pa) 7 20% T.A5%
Salary escalation rale (p.a) - senior slalf 12 00% 12.00%
Sitlary escalation mte (pa ) - fimior staff 10, 50% 10.50%

The eslimales of fulure salary i in acluarial

damand and supply in Llhe employment markel

Compensated absences

balance as al the balance sheel date

The liabilily for accumulated leave which is efigible for encashmenl wilhin the same

The compensaled absences cover the Company's liability for casual and earned leave

year is p for at pi

lakes inlo accounl, inflalion, seniarily, promolions and olher relevant faclors, such as

iling salary rale for the enlire unavailed leave

L ¥;
As at 31 Mar As at 31 Mor
Particulars 2024 2023
Compensated absences expected 1o be sollled 1.03 107
Provident fund
ECr
As at 31 Mar As ar 31 Mar
Particulars 2024 2023
Provident fund paid to govemmant sulhorities 503 3.48
Paonmon fund paid to govemment authotifies 205 152

oF( Chartered
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

28 Segment information

Segment wise revenue, results and capital employed for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023

In % crore
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23
Dlstn.butlon Softvyarc Total Dlstrl})utlon ?m'l'h':'n e Total
Business services Business scrvices
Revenue
_ Extemal sules and other income 33731 99.25 436.56 272 .84 8502 357.86
Unallocable 38 58 3328
Total revenue 337.31 99.25 475.14 272.84 85.02 391.14
Segment result 61.20 (33.98) 27.22 8.89 19.10 27.99
Unallocable result - - 99.85 .96
Net profit 01.20 (33.98) (72.63) 8.89 19.10 (51.97)
Sepgment assets 40.58 24.52 65.10 32.26 12.99 45.258
Unullocated corporate assels - - 604.85 - - 68233
Total assets 40.58 24.52 066995 32.26 12.99 727.58
Segment liabilitics 7.22 (.01 7.23 11.99 0,34 12.33
Unallocated corporate linbilities - - 134,58 - - 114.38
Total liahilities 7.22 0.01 141.81 11.99 .34 126.71
Capital employed 33.36 | 24.51 | 528.14 | 20.27 | 12.65 | 600,87
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

30 Financial risk management

The Company has operations in India, Whilst risk is inherent in the Company’s activities, it is managed through a risk management framework, including
ongoing identificalion, measurement and monitoring subject to risk limits and other controls. The Company’s activities expose it to credit risk, liquidity risk and

market risk.
Risk Expaosure Arising from Measurement Management
Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, financial assets Credit ratings Setting limits on the amount of acceptable risk,
measured at amortised cost and fair value diversification of investment limits, dealing with
through profit or loss creditworthy counterparties only
Trade receivables Credit Limit & No. of overdue days, monitoring of credit limits
Aging analysis
Liquidity Risk Other liabilities Malturity Maintaining sufficient cash/cash equivalents and
analysis marketable securities

The Board of Directors provide guiding principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as, credit risk, liquidity risk,
and investment of available funds.

A. Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations leading to a financial loss to the Company. Credit risk primarily
arises from cash equivalents, financial assets measured at amortised cost, financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss and trade
receivables.

Credit Risk Management

In regard to Trade receivables, which are typically unsecured, credil risk is managed through continuouslky monitoring the credit worthiness of customers
in the normal course of business. Trade receivables consist of regulated entities with stringent regulation on solvency which significantly mitigates credit
risk.

For other financial assets the Company has an investment policy which allows the Company to invest only with counterparties having a credit rating equal
(0 or above AA+ and P1+. The Company reviews the creditworthiness of these counterparties on an on-going basis.

B. Liquidity Risk
The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are funds infusion from shareholders, ‘cash and cash equivalents’ and cash flows that are generated from
operations. The Company believes that its working capital is sufficient to meet the financial liabilities within maturity period

The following table summarises the working capital position of the Company for the current year:

31 March 2024

In ¥ crore
Current Assets 488.08
Less: Current Liabilities (113.68)
Working Capital 374.40

C. Other risk (Market Risk)
The Company has deployed its surplus funds in debt instruments (including through mutual funds) and money market instruments. The Company is
exposed to price risk on such investments; which arises on account of movement in interest rates, liquidity and credit quality of underlying securities
The Company has invested its surplus funds primarily in debt instruments mutual funds with AAA & STABLE Al+ rating and thus the Company does not

have significant risk exposure here
°°' Chartered “’
Accountants
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

31 Capital management

Risk management
The Company is cash surplus and has no capital other than Equity. The Company is not exposed to any regulatory imposed capital
requirements.

The cash surpluses are currently invested in income generating debt instruments (including through mutual funds) and money market
instruments depending on economic conditions in line with the guidelines set out by the management. Safety of capital is of prime
importance (o ensure avaitability of capital for operations. Investment objective is to provide safety and adequate return on the suiplus
funds.

The following table summerizes the net capital position of the Company:

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In € crore In ¥ crore
Equity 528.14 60087
Less: Tangible and other assets 153,74 16673
Working capital (excluding investments) 14.45 {15.79)
Investments 359.95 449.93
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

32 Fair value measurement

i) Financial instruments by category

in T crove
31-Mar-24 31-Mar-23
Amortised Amortised
FVTPL FVOCI Cost FVTPL FVOCI Cost

Finuncial assets
Investments

- Liquid mutual funds 37.83 - - 1590 - .

- Certificate of Deposits - - 147.52 = - 194.54

- Bonds & Dcbentures - - 174.60 - - 28832
Trade receivables - - 54.36 - - 3825
Other financial assets - - 3522 - - 16,18
Cash and cash equivalents - - 3001 - - 4.96
Total financial assets 37.83 - 441.71 15.90 - 542.25
Financial liabilities
Lease liability - - 42.44 - - 4341
Trade payables - - 17.10 - - 1808
Dther financial liabilities - - 67 47 - - 5293
Total financial liabilities - - 127.01 - - 114.42
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Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

i) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are (a) recognised and measwied at fair value and (b)
measured at amontised cost and for which fair values ate disclosed in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining
fair value, the Company has classified its financial insttuments into the thiec levels prescribed under the accounting standard. An explanation of each level follows underneath
the table

In X crore
Financial assels red at fair value - recurving fair value st 31 March 2024 i
Particulars Notes Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial investments at FVTPI,
- Liquid mutual funds 4 37.83 - = 37.83
Total financial assets 37.83 - = 37.83
In ¥ crore
| Financial assets el at Bair value - vecurring fair vialue ements at 31 March 2023
|Particulars Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tatal
Financial investments at FVPL
- Liquid mutual funds 4 15.90 - - 15.90
Total financial assets 15.90 - - 15.90

There have been no tiansfers between Level | and Level 2

The value of other financial assets is same as their fair value

Valuation principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly tiansaction in the principal (or most advantageous) matket at the
measurement date under cunent market conditions (i.e, an exit price), regatdless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using a valuation technique

In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hietarchy of valuation techniques, as explained below

Level 1: Level | hierarchy includes financial instruments measuted using quoted prices in active markets Quotes would include rates/values/valuation references published
periodically by BSE, NSE etc. basis which trades take place in a linked or unlinked active market, This includes traded bonds and mutual funds, as the case may be, that have
quoled price/iate/value

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active matket e determined using valuation techniques which maxinise the use of observable market
data (either directly as prices or indirectly detived fiom prices) and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates, If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, (he instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or mote of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities,
contingent consideration and indemnification asset included in level 3

Valuation Techniques used to determine fair value include
- Open ended mutual funds at NAV'shates declared and/or quoted
- Close ended mutual funds at NAV's declated by AMFI

/5500




Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

33 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

In T crore
As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023

Particulars Within 12 months  After 12 months  Within 12 months After 12 months
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equiptnent - 62.77 - 59.61
Intangible assets = 85.20 = 80.04
Financial assets

Investments - - 48.83

Other financial assets - 28.46 - 6.65
Other non-current assets - 5.44 - 3.19
Current assets
Financial assets

Investments 359.95 - 449.93 .

Trade receivables 54.37 - 38.25 -

Cash and cash equivalents 30.01 - 4.96 -
Other financial assets 6.76 - 9.53 -
Other current assets 28.34 - 25.23 -
Total 479.43 181.87 527.90 198.32
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities 14.31 28.13 12.15 31.26
Provisions - - - 0.33
Deferred tax liabilities (net) - - - -
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities

Trade payables 17.10 - 18.08 -

Other financial liabilities 67.32 . 52.93 -
Other current liabilities 13.92 - 10.89 -
Provisions 1.03 - 1.07 -
Total 113.68 28.13 95.12 31.59

Net 365.75 153.74 432.78 166.73




Bajaj Finserv Direct Limited

Notes to financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

34 Sharc-based pavments (Employee option plan)

Bajaj Finserv Limiled (*Holding Company™) has established Employees stock options plan, 2018 (ESOP Scheme) for employees of the company  The employee stock option plan, designed Lo provide
incentives to the employees of the company and to deliver long-term returns and is an equity seltled plan Options granted under ESOP scheme would vest in nol less than one year and not more than
five years from the date of grant of the oplions Under the scheme, the company has granted 2,03,168 shares on various dates of 2 | each to its eligible employees Vesting of the options would be
subject to continuous employment with the Company and hence (he options would vest with passage of time. In addition to this, the company may also specify certain performance parameters subject to
which the uptivns would vest Sucli uptivis wuald vest when (he peiformance parameters are. met

Once vested, the oplions remain exercisable over period ol eight years lium tie dale of vesting o1 such period as may be decided by the compuny at its sole discetion fivm time to time. Options granted
under the plan are for no consideration and carry no dividend or votiny rights On exercise, each option is convertible into one equity share

Sel out below is a summary of options eranted under the plan

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Particulars Number of options Number of options
Opening balance 726,150 596,650
Granted during the year 203,168 144,570
Excercised during (he year 126,120 15,070
Forfeited during the year 51,525
Closing balance F44. 673 726,150
Vested and excercisable 64,900 221,430

No options expired during the year

Fair value of options granted

Tranche 1

The fair value at grant date of options granted on 16 May 2019 was ¥ 177 10 per option The fair value at grant date is determined using the Black Scholes model which takes into account the exercise
price, the term of the option, the share price at grant date and expecled volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk frec interest rate for the term of the option

Tranche 11
The fair value at grant date of options granted on 21 May 2020 was X 159 70 per option The fair value al grant date is determined using the Black Scholes model which takes into account the exercise
price, the tenm of the option, the share price at grant date and expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option

Tranche 11
The fair value at grant date of oplions granted on 28 April 2021 was X 33500 per option. The fair value at grant date is determined using the Black Scholes model which takes into account the exercise
price, the term of the oplion, the share price at grant date and expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of Lhe option

Tranche IV
7The fair value at grant dale of options granted on 27 April 2022 was Z 509 40 per option The fair value al grant date is determined using the Black Scholes model which takes into account the exercise
price, Lhe term of the option, the share price at grant date and expecled volatilily of the underlying share, the expecled dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option

Tranche V
The fair value at grant date of options granted on 27 April 2023 was T 437 16 per option. The fair value al grant date is determined using the Black Scholes mode! which takes into account the exercise
price, Lhe term of the oplion, the share price at grant date and expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option

The model inputs for oplions granted are as under

Tranche 1 Tranche 1L Tranche 111 Tranche IV Tranche V
a) options are granted for no consideration and vesting period is: 4 years 4 years 4 years 4 years 4 years
b) exercise price: Z 761 75 per option 247021 peroption ¥ 1,009 14 per option T 1,482 64 per option % 1,334 7 per option
c) grant date: 16 May 2019 21 May 2020 28 April 2021 27 April 2022 27 April 2023
d) expiry date: 15 May 2023 20 May 2024 28 April 2025 27 April 2026 27 April 2027
€) share price at grant dale: T761.75 247021 Z 1,009 14 1,482 64 % 1,334.70
f) expected price volatility of the Company's shares: 3040% 35.56% 3677% 34.34%-37 99% 32.12%-35 3%
) expected dividend yield: 0.02% 0,05% 0.05% 002% 0.03%
h) risk-free interest rate: 756% 6.35% 6.62% 5.35%-6.56% 6.78%-6.93%

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any expected changes to futwe volatility due to publicly
available information
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(A)

(B)

©

(D)

(E)

Leases

Lease liability movement

Particulars

Opening balance

Add: Addition during the year
Interest on lease liabiltiy

Less: Deletion during the year
Lease rental payment

Balance at the end of the year

For the year ended

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

In ¥ crore In  crore
43.41 20.63
12.81 37.10

3.30 2.20
3.03 4.90
14.05 11.62
42.44 43.41

Lease rentals of T 0.05 crore (Previous year NIL) pertaining to short-term leases and low value assets has been charged to Statement of

Profit and Loss

Future lease cash outflow for all leased assets

Particulars

Not later than one year
Later than one year but not later than 5 years

Maturity analysis of lease liability

Particulars

Within 12 months
After 12 months

Amount recognised in statement of profit and loss

Particulars

[nterest on lease liabilities
Depreciation charge for the year
(Gain)/loss on pre-mature lease closure

As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In ¥ crore In € crore
20.37 13.48
48.75 45.38
69.12 58.86
As at
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
In € crore In ¥ crore
14.31 12.15
28.13 31.26
42.44 43.41

For the year ended

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

In ¥ crore in ¥ crore
3.30 2.20
13.46 10.74
0.22 0.24
16.98 13.18
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36 Additional Regulatory Requirements
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linbiilitiey

{Inims apninst the Company not ueknow ledged us debis

Asnt
1 Mureh 20024 30 Murch 2023
In € crora

In € crore

38 There are no proceedings which have been iniliated or are pending ugainst the company for holding any benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 198H (45 of 1988) and the rules made (hereunda

39 Previous yem's tigures huve been regrouped and rearranged whenever necessary (o conlinm (o current year's presentation/classilication
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